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JANE MILLER

Plaintiff,

vs.

THOMAS DUNKERTON, in his official
capacity as the Republican Registrar of Voters
for the Town of Brookfield, Connecticut;
MATTHEW GRIMES, in his offrcial capacity
as the Chairman of the Brookfield Republican
Town Committee for the Town of Brookfield,
Connecticut; GEORGE WALKER, in his
official capacity as a member of the Brookfield
Republican Town Committee; MARTIN
FLYNN; in his official capacity as a member
of the Brookfield Republican Town
Committee

Defendants

CIVIL ACTION NO.

FEBRUARY 3,20T6

COMPLAINT FOR DIICI,ARATOR \/,ANT) .II]NCTIVF],IN ,IF].F'ANI)

COMPENSAT DAMAGES

Plaintiff, by her counsel, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief as well as

compensatory damages against defendants, state the following:

INTRODUCTION

1. Ms. Miller brings this action to challenge the constitutionality of a Connecticut

statute which has been used by the Defendants to deprive her of her ability to participate in the

fundamental civil process of our republic-the election of our leaders.
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2. This basic right to cast a vote and participate in the election of our representatives

and leaders is protected by federal and state statute, and the constitutions of both the State of

Connecticut and the United States of America.

3. As a direct result of the actions of the defendants, Ms. Miller has already been

denied her right to participate in two municipal caucus' in July 2015 and January 2016.

4. The timing of the Defendants' actions are particularly egregious, as Defendants

seek to deny Ms. Miller the opportunity to participate in a local primary which will be held on

March 1,2016 as well as the 2016 Republican presidential primary election-a core democratic

process that will have profound consequences for the United States and its citizens for many

years to come.

5. Nevertheless, the statutes in question, C.G.S. $ 9-60 et seq., have been cited by

the Defendants as giving them authority to arbitrarily, and without due process, determine that

the Ms. Miller may not affiliate with the party of her choice, thereby denying her the ability to

participate in the upcoming 2016 Republican presidential primary election. Defendants actions

are specifically targeted against Ms. Miller, so as to deny her equal protection under the law.

6. These statutes, and the Defendants' wrongful and arbitrary use of them, with

malice and forethought, to deprive the Plaintiff of her ability to participate in this fundamental,

and most important of our American civil processes, should be immediately addressed before the

upcoming Republican presidential primary election on April 26,2016. For these reasons, the

Court' s intervention is necessary.
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NATURE OF THE ACTION

l. This action challenges the constitutionality of Connecticut General Statutes $$ 9-

60 through 9-63, both on their face and as applied to Ms. Miller, on the grounds that the

enforcement of these statutes deprives Ms. Miller of her fundamental constitutional rights to

vote, to freedom of association, and to due process of the law under the First and Fourteenth

Amendments of the United States Constitution, in violation of 42 U.S.C. $1983.

8. Equally, and significantly, this action challenges the unfair and arbitrary

application of these statutes to Ms. Miller, as Defendants have applied them differently to other

male individuals who were allowed to affiliate with the Republican Party after taking

substantially the same actions as Plaintiff. Clearly, Ms. Miller is being treated differently than

others, particularly because she is a woman.

g. In addition, the Defendants conspired to deprive Ms. Miller of her Constitutional

.ights in violation of 42 U.S.C. $ 1985.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. This is a civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief under 42 U.S.C. $$ 1983

1985 and the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

11. Thejurisdiction ofthis Courtis based on 28 U.S.C. $$ l33l and 1343.

12. Venue is proper in this court under 28 U.S.C. $ 1391(b), as all parties reside in the

Town of Brookfield, Connecticut and all relevant events occurred within the Town of

Brookfield, Connecticut.

-1
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THE PARTIES

13. Jane Miller ("Plaintiff'or "Ms. Miller") is a resident of Brookfìeld, Connecticut.

14. Thomas Dunkerton ("Dunkerton") is a resident of Brookfield, Connecticut and is

the Republican Registrar of Voters for the Town of Brookfield, Connecticut.

15. Matthew Grimes ("Chairman Grimes") is a resident of the Town of Brookfield,

Connecticut, is a member of a law firm with offices in the Town of Brookfield, and is the

Chairman of the Brookfield Republican Town Committee.

16. George Walker ("Walker") is a resident of the Town of Brookfield, Connecticut

and is a current member and former Vice-Chairman of the Brookfield Republican Town

Committee.

17. Martin Flynn ('oFlynn" or, collectively with the other defendants "Defendants") is

a resident of the Town of Brookfield, Connecticut and is a current member and former Chairman

of the Brookfield Republican Town Committee.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

18. A similar action was previously brought in Connecticut State court (the "State

Action"), although different causes of actions, most notably the violation of Ms. Miller's Equal

Protection rights was not alleged, as this cause of action is based on actions taken by Defendants

after the State Action was filed.

19. Because Defendants' actions, which clearly discriminate against Ms. Miller based

on her gender, occurred after the State Action, and because the State Action is currently pending

before the Connecticut Supreme Court on appeal, it is necessary to now bring this action before

this Court.
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FACTS

20. Ms. Miller is a longtime resident of the Town of Brookfield, Connecticut and first

registered as a Republican with the Brookfield Republican registrar of voters in 2003.

21. Ms. Miller actively campaigned for Republican nominees endorsed by the

Brookfield Republican Party from2004 through 20ll by, among other activities, posting signs

and visibly showing support at debates and other local events, passing out literature, making

phone calls, and wearing buttons.

22. Ms. Miller and her husband also donated money on several occasions to the

campaigns of Brookfield Republican Party nominees from 2004 through 2011.

23. In 2009, Ms. Miller was nominated by the Brookfield Republican Party as the

Republican nominee for a seat on the Brookfield Board of Education'

24. Ms. Miller was elected to the Brookfield Board of Education as a Republican in

2009 artd served the full four-year term as a member of such Board.

25. In20l3,Ms. Miller sought the Republican nomination from the Brookfìeld

Republican Party for an additional term on the Board of Education in Brookfield.

26. Notwithstanding the fact that Ms. Miller was the Republican incumbent for the

position, the Brookfield Republican Party chose not to endorse her without giving any reason or

explanation and instead chose to endorse another, male candidate.

27. In fact, the Brookfield Republican Town Committee only nominated one woman

to run for elected position at the July 2013 caucus.
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21. The Brookfield Republican Party announced its decision not to endorse Ms.

Miller on July 23, 2013 at the 2013 Brookfield Republican Caucus, which Plaintiff attended.

Notably, this caucus was held at the same time as the Brookfield Democratic Caucus, which Ms.

Miller did not attend.

28. Because the RTC would not support her candidacy, the Brookfield Democratic

Town Committee asked Ms. Miller to run for the Brookfield Board of Finance as an unaffiliated

voter on the Democratic slate, recognizing her desire to serve her community as a public official.

29. The Brookfield Democratic Party did not endorse Ms. Miller at the Brookfield

Democratic Caucus. However, they did nominate her to fill a ballot vacancy on the Board of

Finance (a different position in town goverïìment than the position she held on the Board of

Education).

30. The Brookfield Democratic Party subsequently endorsed Ms. Miller as a candidate

for the Board of Finance.

31. Following the public rejection by her own party at the 2013 Brookfield

Republican Caucus, Ms. Miller changed her party affiliation to "Unaffiliated" effective July 24,

2013 in order to run for the vacant position on the Board of Finance.

32. Ms. Miller was not elected to the Board of Finance.

33. Importantly, Ms. Miller deliberately did not change her party affiliation to another

political party in the State of Connecticut, and only became "Unafftliated" as it was impossible

for her to run as a member of a political party which had not nominated her.

34. At all relevant times, including the short time that she was registered as

"Unaffiliated,'o Ms. Miller supported the principles and values of the Republican Party.
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35. Shortly after the November 2013 election, Ms. Miller submitted a re-registration

form to Defendant Dunkerton's office to change her party affiliation back to Republican from

"Unaffiliated."

36. Dunkerton accepted Ms. Miller's form and initialed it. This action had the effect

of re-affiliating Ms. Miller with the Republican Party as of December 4,2014.

37. Thus, Ms. Miller has never affiliated with any political party other than the

Republican Party, and was only "Unaffiliated" for approximately six months out of the twelve

years prior to April 23, 2015.

38. Unbeknownst to Ms. Miller, at the January 2015 meeting for the Brookfield

Republican Party, the members in attendance discussed the potential action of forcibly dis-

affiliating her from the Republican Party via C.G.S. $$ 9-60 and9-61.

39. Upon information and belief, during said discussion, the members of the

Brookfield Republican Party who were in attendance at the January 2015 meeting were

unanimously agaínst dis-affiliating Ms. Miller from the Republican Party.

40. Upon information and beliet after said discussion, the members of the Brookfield

Republican Party who were in attendance at the January 2015 meeting voted by raising their

hands on whether or not to dis-affiliate Ms. Miller from the Republican Party, and no member

voted in favor of the dis-affiliation.

4L Upon information and belief, the Defendants, at or in conjunction with this

January 2015 meeting, met for the specific purpose of determining out how best to forcibly dis-

affrliate Ms. Miller and thereby violate her constitutional rights.
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42. After this unanimous vote, on March 19,2015, approximately eighteen (18)

months after Defendant Dunkerton accepted Ms. Miller's re-registration form in which she

elected to affiliate with the Republican Party, Defendants issued her a citation for a closed

hearing scheduled for March 26,2015 pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. $ 9-60.

43. Defendants rescheduled said hearing to April 9,2015 at the Brookfield Town

Hall.

44. During each step of this hearing, Ms. Miller's constitutional due process rights

under the Fourteenth Amendment were violated.

45. The hearing held of April 9,2015 was little more than a show-trial. It was

arranged and presided over by the very individuals who accused Plaintiff of un-Republican

activities. The effect of this unconstitutional procedure was that defendants Dunkerton and

Grimes were essentially the prosecutor, judge, jury, and executioner. Not surprisingly, these

defendants, with the aid and complicity of their co-conspirators defendants Walker and Flynn,

stripped Ms. Miller of her Constitutional rights without due process of the law.

46. On or about Apnl2},2015, Defendants issued an unsigned and undated decision

("the Decision") as to the issue of whether Ms. Miller should be removed from the Brookfield

Republican Party List.

47. The Decision stated that Defendants purportedly found "reasonable proof' of two

out of the three acts for which Defendant cited Plaintiff, specifically: (1) Ms. Miller was "a

candidate for office under the designation of another party;" and (2) Ms. Miller "actively

affiliated" with the Democratic Party.
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48. Defendants did not find "reasonable proof' of the third act for which Ms. Miller

was cited, "knowingly being a candidate at any primary or caucus of another party)'

49. After Ms. Miller was forcibly dis-affiliated from the RepublicanParty, and well

after the State Action was filed, two male, former members of the Brookfield Republican Party

sought to be re-affiliated with the Republican Party.

50. Like Ms. Miller, they too had changed their political affrliation to "Unaffiliated"

and had run for town office as DemocraticParty candidates.

51 . However, in Decemb er 2015 these two men were quickly reentered upon the rolls

of the Republican Party.

52. Incredibly, the Defendants did not even convene a hearing under C.G.S' $$ 9-60

et al.tp discuss the actions of these two men,, let alone forcibly dis-affiliate them from the

Republican Party.

53. Upon information and belief, these two men are still registered as Republicans

and will vote in the March 2016 Town primary, and also in the 2016 Republican party

presidential primary election.

54. Clearly, if the statutes were applied in a non-discriminatory fashion, the same

charges that were brought against Ms. Miller should also have been brought against these two

men, and they would also have been forcibly dis-affiliated.

55. The Brookfield Republican Town Committee's makeup is also indicative of an

organization that treats women differently: Of the twenty-five members of the Committee, only

five are women. Of these five women, only one is an elected official and serves on the town

planning commission. Of the 5 members of the Committee, none hold a position as an officer.
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56. The gender makeup of the Brookfield Republican Town Committee is in stark

contrast with other town political committees.

51. From April 2003 to April 2015, Ms. Miller has never been enrolled in any other

political party or organization other than the Republican Party.

58. From April 2003 to April 2015, Ms. Miller has never actively affiliated with a

party other than the Republican Party.

59. From April 2003 to April 2015, Ms. Miller has never attended any primary or

caucus of a party other than the Republican Party.

60. From April 2003 to April 2015, Ms. Miller has never espoused any principles

which were not congruent with those espoused by the Republican Party.

61. On April 23,2015, in accordance with the Decision of Defendants, and pursuant

to Conn. Gen. Stat. $ 9-61, Ms. Miller's name was removed from the Republican Enrollment list

against her wishes.

62. Upon information and belief, the Defendants, motivated by their animus towards

the Democratic Party, andlor towards Ms. Miller as a woman, conspired to dis-affiliate her from

the Republican Party by selectively enforcing $$ 9-60 et seq.

63. Due to this removal, Ms. Miller is prohibited from being able to exercise her

constitutional right to freedom of association and the right to vote under the First Amendment.

64. By applying the statute only to Ms. Miller and not to the two male individuals

who ran for office on the Democratic ticket, Defendants have violated the Equal Protection rights

of Ms. Miller under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.
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65. By denying Ms. Miller's right to vote, right to Equal Protection under the law,

and right to freedom of association, Defendants violated the First Amendment of the United

States Constitution as applied to the state of Connecticut by the Fourteenth Amendment and 42

u.s.c. $ 1983.

66. As a result of Defendants' actions, Ms. Miller has suffered compensatory

damages above and beyond the violation of her Constitutional rights. These damages include,

but are not limited to, pain and suffering, emotional distress, loss of dignity,loss of reputation,

and damage to Ms. Miller's business.

E,INJURY

67. If the Defendants' forcible dis-affiliation is allowed to stand and the Court does

not act swiftly to protect the Plaintiff s Constitutional rights, including her Equal Protection

rights, the Plaintiff will not be permitted to cast her vote in the upcoming town and Republican

presidential primary election, which will be held on Apn|26,2016. Once this election is held

and the Plaintiff is not permitted to participate, she will be irreparably harmed, and no later

action by this Court will be able to address said harm. In addition, the Court should exercise its

power to issue injunctive relief to prevent the Defendants from using C.G.S. $$ 9-60 et seq. to

unconstitutionally strip other individuals, and particularly women, of their constitutional rights.

FIRST COIINT
(Violation of PtaintifPs Right to Freedom of Association - 42 U.S.C. S 1983)

68. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation in the foregoing

paragraphs with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein'
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69, By forcibly dis-affiliating Plaintiff from the Republican Party, Defendants, acting

under the color of state law, knowingly and intentionally deprived Plaintiff of her fundamental

right to freedom of association under the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United

States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. $ 1983.

70. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $$ 19S3 and 1988, Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory

damages in an amount to be determined by the Court, but believed to exceed $1,000,000, and the

reasonable costs of her legal actions to date, including her reasonable attorneys' fees.

SECOND COUNT
(Violation of Plaintiff s Fundamental Right to Vote - 42 U.S.C. S 1983)

7I. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation in the foregoing

paragraphs with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.

72. By forcibly dis-affrliating Plaintiff from the Republican Party, and thereby

preventing her from voting in the upcoming Republican Presidential primary election,

Defendants, acting under the color of state law, knowingly and intentionally deprived Plaintiff of

her fundamental right to vote under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution as

applied to the state of Connecticut by the Fourteenth Amendment, in violati on of 42. U.S.C' $

1 983.

73. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $$ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory

damages in an amount to be determined by the Court, but believed to exceed $1,000,000, and the

reasonable costs ofher legal actions to date, including her reasonable attorneys' fees.
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THIRD COUNT
(violation of Plaintiff s Due Process Rights - 42 U.S.C. $ 1983)

74. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation in the foregoing

paragraphs with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.

75. Defendants, acting under the color of state law, acted pursuant to Connecticut

General Statutes that are both vague and overbroad on their face and as applied.

76. The Defendants use of the unconstitutional statutes to forcibly dis-affiliate the

Plaintiff from the Republican ParIy, and their use of the flawed and unconstitutional processes

provided therein, deprived Plaintiff of her fundamental due process rights guaranteed under the

Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. $ 1983,

77. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $$ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory

damages in an amount to be determined by the Court, but believed to exceed $1,000,000, and the

reasonable costs ofher legal actions to date, including her reasonable attorneys' fees.

FOUR COUNT
(Violation of Plaintiffls Equal Protection Rights - 42 U.S.C. $ 1983)

78. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation in the foregoing

paragraphs with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.

79. By forcibly dis-affiliating Plaintiff from the Republican Party arbitrarily, and

allowing other individuals who have voluntarily dis-affiliated themselves to rejoin the

Republican Party without instituting statutory proceedings against them, Defendants, acting

under the color of state law, knowingly and intentionally deprived Plaintiff of her fundamental

right to Equal Protection under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, in

violation of 42. U.S.C. $ 1983.
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80. As a woman, Plaintiff is a member of a protected class.

81. Because the individuals allowed to rejoin the Republican Party are male, this

violation of Equal Protection under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution

should be subject to heightened scrutiny.

82. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $$ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiff is entitled to damages in an

amount to be determined by the Court, but believed to exceed $1,000,000, and the reasonable

costs ofher legal actions to date, including her reasonable attorneys' fees.

FIFTH COUNT
(Conspiracy to Violate Civil Rights- 42 U.S.C. $ 1985)

83. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation in the foregoing

paragraphs with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.

84. Motivated by their class-based animus, Defendant Grimes and Defendant

Dunkerton, willfully, knowingly and with callous indifference entered into an agreement and

conspired to act under the color of state law for the purpose of depriving Plaintiff of her

fundamental rights to vote and freely associate, and to equal protection of the law, which are

protected under the United States Constitution and $1983.

85. Defendant Grimes and Defendant Dunkerton entered into an agreement and

conspired to violate Plaintiffls rights protected under the United States Constitution and $1983,

and furthered their conspiracy by the actions recited herein.

86. The actions of Defendant Grimes and Defendant Dunkerton deprived and

continue to deprive the Plaintiff of her rights protected under the United States Constitution and

$ 1983.

I4

Case 3:16-cv-00174-AWT     Document 1     Filed 02/03/16     Page 14 of 16



87. As a result and proximate cause of the conspiracy perpetrated by Defendant

Grimes and Defendant Dunkerton, and fuithered by said Defendants' actions, Plaintiff has in the

past and will continue in the future to suffer direct and consequential damages, including but not

limited to, the loss of Plaintiff s rights recited herein.

88. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $$ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory

damages in an amount to be determined by the Court, but believed to exceed $1,000,000, and the

reasonable costs of her legal actions to date, including her reasonable attorneys' fees.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff prays for a judgment and order:

A. Declaring that the actions of Defendants, acting under the color of state law -

specifically Conn. Gen. Stat. $$ 9-60 through 9-63 - deprived Plaintiff of her fundamental rights

to vote and to freedom of association, as well as her due process rights under the First and

Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States in violation of 42 U.S.C. $

1983;

B. Granting equitable relief by compelling the Republican Registrar of Voters for the

Town of Brookfield Connecticut to restore Plaintiff s name to the Republican enrollment list

thereby restoring Plaintiff s fundamental rights to vote and to freedom of association under the

First and Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States;

C. Awarding Plaintiff her costs and disbursements associated with the filing and

maintenance of her legal actions to date, including an award of reasonable attomeys' fees

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $ 1988;
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D. Awarding compensatory damages in an amount to be determined by the Court,

but believed to exceed $ 1,000,000;

E. Awarding punitive damages to the extent permitted under the law; and

F. Granting such other and further relief as this Court shall deem just and proper,

Respectfully submitted,

Bv: /s/Joseoh M Pastore III
Joseph M. Pastore III ctl 1431

Nathan C. Zezula ct27 936
Pastore & Dailey, LLC
4 High Ridge Park, 3'd Floor

Stamford, CT 06905

Telephone 203 .658.845 4

Facsimile 203.348.0852
**{< *( ** tl€ t<* t( * * ** rl( {< {< {. {< *{<*

Susan Bysiewicz ct02242

Pastore & Dailey LLC
1 15 Glastonbury Boulevard, Suite 100

Glastonbury, CT 06033

203.6s8.8467 @)
Sbysi ewicz@psdlaw. net

Attorneys þr Plaintiff
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FEDERALTAXSUITSÞRPT\¡ l'fvfl. nrl]rrTs

I 710 Fair Labor Standards

Act
O 720 Labor/Managcment

Rclations
I 740 Railway LaborAct
Í 751 Family and Medical

Leavc Act
tl 790 Othcr Labor Litigation
D 791 Employcc Retircmcnt

lncome Security Act

IMMIGRATION

I 870 Taxcs (U.S. Plaintiff
or Dcfcndant)

t 871 IRS-Third PartY

26 USC 7609

Habeas Corpus:
0 463 Alien Detaincc
t 510 Motions to Vacatc

Scntence
D 530 Cencral
n 535 Dcath Penalty

Other:
ñ 540 Mandamus & Othcr
E 550 Civil Rights
D 555 Prison Condition
D 560 Civil Detainec -

Conditions of
Confinemcnt

D 462 Naturalization Application
O 465 Other Immigration

Actions

f 440 Othcr Civil Rights

El 441 Voting
D 442 Employmcnt
O 443 Housing/

Accommodations
D 445 Amcr. w/Disabilitics -

Employmcnt
D 446 Amcr. w/Disabilitics -

Othc¡
D 448 Education

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under
42 U.S.C Statute 1983

whiclr you are filing (Do not c¡teiur¡sd¡ctiond stúules ,rtl6s díveßit!)

n and com Damages
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION of cause:

Declaration

VII. REQLIESTED IN i cnscr< rF rHrs IS A cLASS ACTIoN
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R Cv.P.

DEMAND S

$ 1,000,000.00
CHECK YES only if dernanded in complaint

JURY DEMAND: Û YCS X I{O

VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
IF ANY JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER

RECEIPT # AMOUNT

(See instucÍ¡ons):

APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE

DATE

02t03t2016
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
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